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The Indonesia

TAPOL Bulletin No. 96

Human Rights Campaign

December 1989

Lampung massacre trials under way

A new wave of political trials is now under way in
Indonesia. The defendants are all Muslims, accused
under the anti~subversion law of seeking to under-
mine the state and replace the state ideology with a
different set of beliefs. They are presented as armed
rebels who murdered army and police officers and
planned attacks on government offices and a news-
paper office.

The purpose of the trials held so far is to legitimise
the slaughter unleashed by army troops who shot
dead dozens, perhaps more than a hundred, villagers
in the village of Talangsari, Lampung, South Sumatra,
on 7 February this year. [See TAPOL Bulletin, No 92,
April 1989] Beyond that, the regime hopes once again
to portray Indonesia as facing the threat of a Muslim
conspiracy to overthrow the state.

The first trials started in September in Lampung,
South Sumatra, followed a few weeks later by trials in
Bima, Nusatenggara, then in mid November, by more
trials in Jakarta. There is also a hint that trials may
take place in Kolaka, South Sulawesi.

5 life sentences and a 20~-year sentence

The first six men tried in Tanjungkarang district
court, Lampung, Herianto bin Yusuf (25), Zamzuri bin
Muhroji (46), Sri Haryadi alias Sofyan bin Sukan (22),
Fadillah alias Sugito bin Wiryo Prawito (30), Muzaeni
alias Munjen bin Iesmu Prawiro (24) and Sugiman also
known as Sugeng Yulianto bin Marto (30), have all
being given life sentences, except Muzaeni, who was
sentenced to 20 years. They were charged and found
guilty under the anti-subversion law as well as under
the Criminal Code, for their involvement in a Muslim
congregation led by a Muslim spiritual leader, Warsidi.
Warsidi himself was shot dead during the massacre of
7 February.

The regime has, true to form, concocted a name for
the Warsidi movement. After initially recognised that
Warsidi and his followers were part of a congregation
called Komando Mujahideen Fisabillilah, that name
disappeared from press reports, giving way to GPK
Warsidi or Gerombolan Pengacau Keamanan Warsidi,
'Warsidi’s security disruptor gang’, the name by
which all the trials are now identified.

The trials basically set out to establish the army’s
version of the events that led to the massacre. This
is that Warsidi's group refused to comply with
government regulations, that Warsidi ignored a
summons by the local authorities, that when the
authorities visited the group’s ’hideout’ (sic) to
discuss their concerns ’peacefully’, they were at-
tacked and an army officer, Captain Sutiman, was
killed. On the next day, when they tried to retrieve
Captain Sutiman’s body, they were attacked by arrows
and swords as a result of which 27 villagers (the
government figure), including Warsidi, were killed.

The Warsidi group had also allegedly planned an
attack on a local military command (which did not
happen) to rescue colleagues who were in custody.

Call for independent inquiry rejected

Immediately after the Lampung Massacre, the Legal
Aid Institute and the Institute for the Defence of
Human Rights in Jakarta wrote to the authorities
calling for an independent inquiry but their letters
have never been answered. The demand was repeated
by Jusfiq Hadjar, speaking for the Regional Council
on Human Rights in Asia at the August 1989 meeting
of the UN sub-commission on human rights in Geneva,
The official Indonesian observer delegation ignored
the call, asserting that the government "has com-
pleted its full investigation" of the incident.

Other accounts have never been investigated,
including an account received by TAPOL and reported
in TAPOL Bulletin No 92, April 1989. This said that the
massacre was the climax of an army operation to quell
social unrest in the region, launched by paracom-
mandos of the army’s elite corps, Kopassus, under
the command of Captain Sutiman. In January 1989,
several members of the Warsidi congregation were
taken into custody and were brutally tortured by
Captain Sutiman and his men. In retaliation, Sutiman
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MUSLIM TRIALS

editors were warned to refrain from reporting 'an
incident’ in Dompu, island of Sumbawa, the eastern
half of which is the district of Bima. Interior Minister,
General Rudini mentioned 45 arrests and hinted that
local district chiefs were not keeping in touch with
their rural inhabitants. There were rumours that 11
people had been killed, and a suggestion that ’the
incident’ was in some way related to events in Lam-
pung. Although this was vigorously denied, it now
transpires that the trials of these four men in Bima
are being used to confirm a link with the Jakarta
group under Nur Hidayat which is alleged to have
master-minded ’terrorist’ activities in Lampung.

Press reports of the trials mention a fifth person
named Anwar bin Muhamad not (or not yet) on trial,
who came from Jakarta, inflaming passions by deliver-
ing sermons strongly critical of the government, and
who later started recruiting adherents to a congrega-
tion dedicated to the establishment of an Islamic state.
As with the Lampung trials, the Bima trials are
confined to alleged anti-government Muslim groups
with no mention of any social conflicts that may have
fuelled the discontent. For some idea of what may be
involved, we refer readers to an article in TAPOL
Bulletin No 93, June 1989, page 15.

The Negara Islam trials

A series of trials are under way in Bandung, West
Java in which a number of Muslim preachers are
being accused of 'discrediting the Pancasila state’ and
seeking to replace it with an Islamic state. These are
known as 'NII trials’ [Negara Islam Indonesia or
Indonesian Islamic state]. According to Tempo [5
August], altogether five persons will be tried in
Bandung.

The first to go on trial was Emeng Abdulrachman, 47
years, in August who was found guilty of subversion
on 31 October and sentenced to five years. Emeng
Abdulrachman has already served a three year
sentence starting in 1982 for alleged involvement in
the so-called 'Warman Terror Command’ (known by the
initials, KTW), an earlier bogey of the security forces.
Emeng was accused of travelling round West Java,
giving lectures, stirring up hatred and discrediting
the government. He was also alleged to be an NII
‘district commander’. He strongly denied the charges,
insisting that his lectures, delivered only in his own
mosque, were intended to spread the teachings of
Islam and made no reference to overthrowing the
state. He had also been trying to assist people vic-
timised for alleged connections with ’KTW’,

As his trial was about to end, another person
identified only as ’ASM’ (probably Syaiful Malik)
appeared in court to face similar charges. He and 'Es
Sop’ testified as prosecution witnesses in Emeng’s
trial. Perhaps 'Es Sop’ will be the next to come before
the court.

In another trial, a student, Husni bin Muhamad, 21
vears, was sentenced in Bogor in July this year, to
three years for subversion, for giving sermons to
discredit the government and scheming to replace the
Pancasila State with an Islamic State. This defendant
refused the services of a lawyer. [ Kompas, 10 July]

The Jakarta trials

Seven men went on trial in Jakarta in mid November,
as a continuation of the Lampung trials. The names of
several other men have also be mentioned so it is

likely that more trials will follow soon.

The trials of Nur Hidayat (30 years), Maulana Abdul
Latif (32) and Ridwan bin Casari (45) opened on 13
November. On the next day, Achmad Fauzie and Abdul
Fattah Oosim went on trial, and a week later, Dede
Syaifuddin and Sukardi were charged.

Ridwan bin Casari, described as a former member of
Darul Islam in West Java’, has agreed to be defended
by lawyers from the Legal Aid Institute, Jakarta. His
lawyers say that he denies being a member of the Nur
Hidayat group. All the other defendants, like most of
the Lampung defendants, have refused to allow law-
yers to defend them. All are being charged under the
anti-subversion law and could face the death sen-
tence.

Hidayat is accused of scheming to bring about an
Islamic system of society in Indonesia, based entirely
on Islamic law, in accordance with the Qu’ran and the
hadis. This would mean replacing the Pancasila and
the 1945 Constitution as the basis of the state.

‘Islamic villages'

The first stage of his plan, according to the indict-
ment, was to create 'base camps’ or 'Islamic villages’
to train people ready to die as martyrs for the cause;
these bases would then be used to spread disruption.
In the second stage, it was planned to set up ’base
camps’ in all parts of Indonesia, while in the third
stage, there would be assassinations, explosions,
hijacking, the dissemination of pamphlets, and the
organisation of demonstrations, leading eventually to
the overthrow of the government and the establish-
ment of an Islamic state.

In the sermons delivered by followers of Nur
Hidayat, members of the present government were
allegedly classified into three groups, nationalists
(including Suharto and Try Sutrisno), socialists
{including Murdani, Panggabean and Sudomo) and
communists (led by Sudharmono)., Whichever of these
group were in power, Muslims would be at a disad-
vantage.

At a meeting last December, Nur Hidayat was ap-
pointed amir musafir (commander in chief) and a
decision was taken to turn Warsidi's village in Cihi-
deung, Lampung into a 'base camp’; all members of
the group in Jakarta were ordered to retreat to
Cihideung by February. One member, Muhamad Ali
alias Alex, took 300 arrows which he had made himself.
Nur Hidayat allegedly instructed other members to
travel to various regions, Mataram and Bima in West
Nusa Tenggara, East Kalimantan, South Sulawesi and
South and North Sumatra. The only envoy who suc-
ceeded in winning support was Achmad Fauzie who
had been sent to Bima.

On hearing about the army onslaught against
Cihideung on 7 February, Nur Hidayat and his friends
drew up a document, giving their account of what had
happened; this was later distributed to foreign
embassies in Jakarta. They also allegedly planned a
series of explosions and assassinations, in an attempt
to distract the army’s attention from the continuing
crackdown in Lampung.

Giving his initial response to the indictment, Nur
Hidayat said that it was only after they learnt about
the killings that occurred in Lampung that they
began to consider armed actions. "Before that event,
we never talked about weapons or violence." | Tempo,
18 November and Kompas, 14 November 1989
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STUDENT PROTESTS

spreading to other university cities.

Education Minister Fuad Hassan held that the ITB
conflict was an internal matter to be solved by those
directly concerned. But for the military in Jakarta,
the ITB events were becoming a security threat.

Back in July, Defence Minister General Murdani,
commenting on the Tienanmen incident, boasted that
such things would never occur in Indonesia as they
would be stopped at an early stage. In line with this
tactic, the Polkam (politics and security affairs)
ministers gathered on 25 September to discuss the
rising tide of student activism. General Try Sutrisnc
armed forces commander-in-chief and concurrently
chief of Bakorstanas, was assigned to solve the ITB
problem. The Polkam meeting, attended by all top
generals, rejected ITB Rector, Wiranto's policy of
exacerbating the conflict and ordered him to begin
dialogue with the students. The earlier planned trip
of the Rector to West Germany was cancelled at the
last minute. This helped defuse the conflict. The
lecture strike was called off and campus life returned
to normal. On 28 September, General Soedibyo, chief
of Bakin, military intelligence, insisted that nothing
serious had happened in ITB, saying that the press
had exaggerated things. He confirmed that the
government had decided to intervene to prevent the
protests from spreading.

New protests

But the appearance of normality at ITB is deceptive.
None of the student demands has been met. The 11
arrests, 9 dismissals and more than 20 suspensions
still stand.

On 3 October, 13 women students from Kelompok
Perempuan Anti Kekerasan (women’s group against
violence) went to parliament to demand a just solution
for the ITB students. They asked parliament to set up
a fact-finding committee and called for the release of
their detained ITB colleagues, arguing that the expul-
sions and detentions were human rights violations.

A month later, another group emerged: Gerakan
Melawan Diktator (GMD), Movement Against Dictator(s).
It is not clear whether it is Rector Wiranto or General
Try Sutrisno (or both) who they see as dictators, The
group held a picnic on the lawn in front of the
Rector's building, There were no yells; instead
slogans were scrawled on posters around the lawn,
demanding the withdrawal of all the Rector’s decisions
and the release of the 11 detainees. Security officers
stepped in and arrested the alleged leader of the
group, Syahganda Nainggolan. The next day a larger
group of 100 students protested, demanded to know
why Syahganda had been arrested.

The ITB saga is far from over and as long students
remain in detention, feelings on campus could boil
over at any time.

[sources: Suara Karya 26 Sept.1989, Pelita 26 Sept. &
4 Oct., Jakarta Post 29 Sept., Indonesian Observer 3
& 4 Oct., Kompas 23 Oct., Tempo 7 Oct. & 4 Nov., Editor
4 & 11 Nov. 1989).

11 ITB students under army detention
The eleven ITB students arrested after campus
protests against a talk by Interior Minister, General
Rudini on 5 August, are still under detention, in the
hands of the West Java Bakorstanasda, the provincial
agency of the army’s security agency, Bakorstanas.
Two Bandung lawyers from the city's Legal Aid
Institute (LBH), Amartiwi Saleh and Dindin S. Maolani,
authorised by the students to handle their cases,
have publicly criticised the role of Bakorstanasda

which ought not to be holding the students at all,
This army agency now exists in place of the former
Kopkamtib, represented in the regions by the Laksus-
da which always interfered in ’special cases’ when
persons are picked up for political reasons to face
charges under the anti~-subversion law. When
Bakorstanas took over in 1988, it was said that it
would not have an ‘operational’ role, and that crimin-
al investigations would be left to the police. The
handling of the ITB students contradicts this.

It was Bakorstanasda that arrested and detained the
studentsg, but when their first sixty days in detention
expired, they were transferred from army detention
to prison, complying, it would appear, with the
Criminal Procedures Code which stipulates that after
sixty days, detainees must be in the hands of the
public prosecutor. But not long after, the students
were moved back to Bakorstanasda. When the lawyers
challenged this, the West Java military commander,
Major-General Arie Sudewo, said this was at the
request of the students and that prison accom-
modation was 'over-crowded’ and ’unsuitable’. The
lawyers are sceptical. If accommodation is a problem,
they should be allowed home under house or town
arrest, until such time as the authorities decide
whether or not they are to be tried.

The police say the students are being held for
‘harbouring feelings of antipathy towards the govern-
ment’ and that, if charged, it would be under the
Criminal Code, not the anti-subversion law. If found
guilty, they would be liable to sentences of up to 7
years. The lawyers have been told, however, that the
students’ cases are 'special’ (a term normally reser-
ved for subversion cases) because "intellectuals are
involved".

One explanation for the confusion is that, whatever
the Criminal Code may say, the army’s security
agency, Bakorstanas, has taken over the affair.
Another is that while local security officials favour
their release to avoid fuelling anger on campus, the
justice” ministry has received instructions "from
above" (ie. from the President) to press charges. [Far
Eastern Economic Review, 23 November]

Stopr press

It has now been confirmed that two ITB students,
Arnold Purba and Moh. Jumhur Hidayat, are to go on
trial in Bandung on 29 November. They are the first
two to be arrested on 7 August. It is not known
whether the other nine under arrest will face trial
This could turn out to be another occasion for stu-
dent solidarity actions.

Although the charges have not yet been made
public, it must be assumed that they will be charged
with subversion, presumably for the 'crime’' of having
disrupted a Pancasila course.

Surabava Pos 23 September 1989
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HUMAN RIGHTS

Why I am in prison

By Bambang Isti Nugroho

My parents named me Bambang Isti Nugroho. To the
Javanese ear, this is an expression of hope and con-
fidence by the family. Only now have I come to realise
that, whatever my parents may have hoped, this name
is powerless. Indeed! Now, today and for years to
come, 1 must languish in prison. Oh, God, give me the
strength and patience to cope with my misfortune!

I fail to understand why such a thing should have
happened to me. I was all confused when the judges
fell for the things thought up by the prosecution. I
could not understand why I should have to be pun-
ished because I often held opinions that differed with
government statements. Still less could I understand
why I should be accused of setting up a new political
party because I studied theories and ideologies in my
study group. My heart was in turmoil.

I can say in all honesty that I am not anti-govern-
ment, still less anti-Pancasila. 1 am just someone who
completed lower secondary school and wanted to
follow my own burning curiosity. I have no profound
grasp of theory, nor am I capable of coming to
brilliant conclusions. Not at all! I have not advanced
that far, not yet mastered ideological discourse.
Hence, it was very alien for me to hear the prosecutor
speak about subversion. My heart shuddered when I
heard that word because - and I repeat - I have
never rejected Pancasila, still less have I been anti-
Pancasila or anti-government. As I sit behind bars, 1
still cannot understand why I was charged with
subversion. My thoughts scream out. Do I deserve
such a terrible, such an incomprehensible fate? Why
has such a terrible thing befallen me?

Under pressure to confess

Where did this misfortune which led to my loss of
freedom, start? It all started when Bambang Subono,
a final year student at Gajah Mada University, was
arrested as he sold books by Pramoedya Ananta Toer,
a few hours before the books were banned by the
Attorney General. That was a year ago. A week later,
I was working in the Chemistry Laboratory where I
had a job as a junior employee, when I was taken into
custody by a security official without a warrant and
taken to Korem. I was placed under arrest. There, in
that awful place, I was interrogated and forced to
confess that I was the one who had distributed the
books Bambang Subono was selling. For the first time
in my life, I was cruelly treated in that ghastly place.
My health suffered, I was under enormous stress and
my mind was distraught. Under terrible physical
pressure, I was forced to do all in my power to keep
clear-headed, to be absolutely honest and not hide
anything I had done. I 'was quite certain that justice
and truth would prevail in court and I refused to
admit to anything I had not done.

For months as the interrogations proceeded, 1
denied the charges and allegations made by the
prosecutor in his attempt to corner me. Then finally,
came the moment for me to write my defence plea, my
last chance to avoid being sentenced. I could only
pray that my defence plea would echo beyond the
walls of the courtroom and would not be stifled by a
storm of hypocrisy. I felt certain that my voice would
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One of the leaflets produced by Yogyakarta students to
support Bambang Isti Nugroho and Bambang Subono. The
heading: "Mother, they say your son is a communist!"

be heard by God.

Looking back

Through the barbed wire which surrounds my cell, 1
look back at my past. A secondary school student
with a thirst for knowledge, I made every effort to
study, while at the same time working very hard for
my family. I met up with some friends and we started
studying and discussing things together. I wanted to
learn as much as I could from them about society,
culture, politics, economics and other things. With my
limited ability to write, I circulated some of my
articles, to share the knowledge I had acquired with
others having a similar background, people not lucky
enough, because of poverty, to have a completed their
formal education. I was very enthusiastic and refused
to allow poverty to plunge me into despair. I had a
feeling of fullness and completeness. I persuaded
impoverished young people, weighed down by pover-
ty, not to waste their lives moaning.

In the process, I set up a study group with like-
minded comrades. It was never my intention to set up
a party. This was thought up by the prosecutor in
his attempt to corner me. Palagan which means
battlefield was the name of our group. It did not
initiate political actions and had no belligerent
thoughts towards anyone. Palagan means battle of
ideas, the spirit of confrontation between opinions
and of argumentation. I acknowledge that this study
group of mine frequently held discussions but I
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refuse to accept that these intellectual activities
should be considered subversive.

It is true that I have read books by Pramoedya
Ananta Toer, but I read and studied them long before
they were banned by the Attorney General. It is true
that I often talked about how the gap between rich
and poor was getting wider, how a strong state was
making society weak, about the cultural domination
of a particular social group. But the fact is that I was
only citing the thoughts and writings of experts and
scholars published in the press. If I have been
imprisoned and accused of being a communist because
of the things I said, why have they been left alone?
I have never for a moment regretted saying the
things I said because I am sure it fits in with reality,
with the concrete conditions I see around me.

I was convinced that I should not be one-sided and
only study the things I heard over the radio broad-
cast by the government but that I should also learn
from newspapers that do not always agree with
government policy. Was it wrong for me to pursue my

curiosity and study other people’s ideas? Wag it
wrong to disagree with government officials? I.t is a
great pity that this knowledge of mine, the thmgs' 1
learnt in this process of study, has resulted in
sacrifice. I have had to pay a heavy price for the
things I learnt about society, about poverty, corrup-
tion, military domination and the authoritarian In-
donesian state. It has brought separation from the
woman I love, from my mother, from my beloved
brothers and sisters and comrades. It has landed me
behind bars. Nobody knows the trouble, my sor-
row!!!¥)

*) The last sentence is written in English.
Sentences upheld

Bambang Isti Nugroho’s sentence of 8 years and
Bambang Subono’s sentence of 7 years have both been
upheld on appeal. The appeal was heard by the High
Court in Jogjakarta on 22 October. [Kedaulatan
Rakyat, 23 October]

Lawyers face intimidation

Human rights Iayyers who have become involved in student cases and industrial disputes are
facing intimidation from the authorities. The Institute for the Defence of Human Rights in

Jakarta has reported the following incidents.

Legal Aid Institute, Bandung

Lawyers at the Legal Aid Institute (LBH) in Bandung,
West Java have recently helped people involved in
disputes over peasants' land rights in Badega and
Cimerak and the arrest of eleven ITB students (see
separate item).

The first two ITB students were arrested by Bakor-
stanasda on 7 August and in the next few days, nine
more were taken into custody. Six asked LBH-Bandung
to act for them.

* At 6 am on 7 August, former LBH-Bandung director,
Mrs Amartiwi M Saleh, received an anonymous phone-
call warning that she would be killed if she engaged
in such cases. Later that morning, LBH director, Din-
din S. Maolani, received a similar threat by phone.
Since then, threatening calls and anonymous letters
have been received almost daily by Mrs Amartiwi and
the LBH-Bandung office.

* Several weeks after the arrests, LBH-Bandung
lawyers protested to Bakorstanasda because they
were being prevented from visiting their clients.
Thereafter, the intimidating phone-calls increased.

* The parents of some of the students are under
pressure to persuade their sons not to appoint LBH
lawyers.

* On 21 August, after the lawyers sent a second
protest letter about access to their student clients,
the gates at the homes of Amartiwi and Maolani and
the LBH-Bandung office were tied up with chains
covered in human faeces.

* On 24 August, burning plastic pails were thrown at
Maolani’s home.

* On 9 October, objects resembling sticks of explos-
ives with batteries, wire and detonators, were at-
tached to Mr Maolani’s car parked near his house,

LBH-Sumatra lawyer could lose licence

The South Sumatra Bakorstanasda has asked the
South Sumatra high court to review the permit to
practice of Saiman, director of the province's LBH,
for allegedly acting beyond his powers in a dispute
involving workers at a rubber company, CV Panca
Samudera. [According to an administrative decision
several years ago, the Justice Minister can revoke a
lawyer’s licence to practice on the recommendation of
the provincial high court.}

Bakorstanasda claims the dispute was still in the
hands of arbitration and the LBH should not have
taken the case to court. Palembang LBH is also alleged
to have given courses to the workers, inciting them
to go to court. The agency alleges that the workers
seeking LBH assistance include some people with
'unclean’ political environments, suspected as mem-
bers of the now-banned communist party (PKI),

Saiman has strongly denied these allegations. He
took a defensive and unprincipled position regarding
workers suspected of PKI links, saying they had, of
their own accord, withdrawn from the case.

On 2 May 1989, intelligence officers of the South
Sumatra military command summoned, interrogated and
detained four workers employed by CV Panca Samud-
ra. After Saiman wrote to the commander protesting at
these arrests because the dispute is a civil action,
he was summoned and interrogated by Bakorstanasda.

After the army called for Saiman’s permit to be re-
viewed, he was summoned by the Palembang high
court on 20 July; he told the court the LBH had not
persuaded workers to take their case to court but
had been authorised by them to seek a settlement.
Legal aid to the workers, he said, conforms with
i\:tii:;% 027 of the Constitution and Article 35 of Law No

’ L)

8 TAPOL Bulletin No. 96, December 1989









Timor. Any resident wishing to travel to another sub-
district must show his/her identity card, the KTP. The
new rule led to much disquiet, with local authorities
implementing it differently from place to place,
Some officials made it obligatory for inhabitants to
pay their local taxes before receiving their KTP.
Amiruddin Hamzah, the sub-district chief of Peudada,
narrowly escaped when 30 angry villagers assaulted
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his car following disturbances, and troops were used
to handle the attack. Later, six village heads resigned
in protest against the rule. | Editor, 28 October 1989]

Another riot that got out of control occurred in the
capital, Banda Aceh. On 28 October, the weekly, Aceh
Post, under its new manager, the media tycoon Surya
Paloh, reported that a gambling racket was operating
on the grounds of the Syiah Kuala University. Infur-
iated students demanded proof or a correction by the
editors. When this was refused, they started organis-
ing protests outside the journal’s office. Police units,

ACEH

backed by the mobile brigade and military police,
were called in to protect the building. But as the
protests intensified, the operation was reinforced by
600 red-beret commandos flown in from Jakarta. The
crowd could not be calmed until the editor himself
made a public apology, admitting that the report had
been a mistake. [ Editor, 11 November 1989]

Many events in Aceh go unreported in the press;
the above incidents are simply too big to kept secret.
Jakarta is moving fast to cash in on Aceh’s rich
abundance of cash crops, minerals and tropical
forests. But discontent has grown apace; the Acehnese
are not the beneficiaries of this exploitation. Those
in charge of law and order in Jakarta seem to realise
that a time bomb is ticking away in Aceh and could
soon explode.

Preacher on trial

A popular Muslim preacher, Teungku Abdurrahman, 27
years, has gone on trial in Lhok Seumawe district
court, charged with giving inflammatory sermons.
Large crowds inside and outside the courtroom
cheered the defendant on.

Teungku Abdurrahman was accused of urging his
congregation "not to respect the red-and-white flag,
to refuse to pay taxes and to demolish the civil
registry office". When he preached at open-air
meetings, held with official permission and attended
by local army personnel, he allegedly shouted: "Long
live Free Aceh!" Following one of his sermons, crowds
who had been whipped into a frenzy by his words
allegedly attacked a passing vehicle with the local
chief-of-police inside. The vehicle was attacked with
sticks and stones. The prosecutor told the court that
order was not restored until a company of troops
arrived on the scene. ,

The accused described the charges as pure fabrica~
tion. To cheers from the public, he acknowledged that
he had indeed criticised the government but always
in a constructive way.

Abdurrahman attended the trial wearing a white
robe and turban, the typical dress for devout Muslims
in Aceh. [ Editor, 14 October 1989]

Reader’s letterxr

Dear Editor,

In its 2 September 1989 issue, the Indonesian news-
weekly Editor reported on a seminar in which I
participated in August in Jakarta. In your October
issue, quoting Editor, you reported two of the opin-
ions attributed to me: that the US government (a) had
not supported the Indonesian military's operation to
destroy the PKI, but (b) had taken comfort from the
success of that operation, in view of the difficulties
the US was experiencing in its own war against
communism in Vietnam. '

In your October issue you qualify the first opinion
as "groundless". 1 agree. Washington did welcome the
elimination of a communist future for Indonesia. Am I
then contradicting myself? Not at all. Editor mis-
reported what I said.

In the October 1967 issue of Foreign Affairs, Rich-
ard Nixon wrote that the US stand in Vietnam "prov-
ided a shield behind which the lIndonesian] anti-
communist forces found the courage and capacity to
stage their countercoup". At the seminar in Jakarta,

1 disagreed with this "shield theory". I said that to
my knowledge, Washington’s stand in Vietnam had not
caused the Indonesian army to destroy the PKI. The
Indonesian army had its own reasons. Anti-communist
American officials in Saigon, I said, were probably
more encouraged by the accomplishment of their
Indonesian counterparts in Jakarta than the other
way round.

In short: I did not say that the US government did
not support the Indonesian army’s decision to elimi-
nate the PKI, What I said was that the US govern-
ment’s stand in Vietnam did not cause the Indonesian
military to eliminate the PKI.

The fault lies with Editor, not with you., I have
written to him. But I would appreciate your printing
this correction so that readers of the Bulletin will not
misunderstand my position. Thank you.

Donald K. Emmerson,
University of Wisconsin,
Madison, USA.
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FORESTRY

Scott Paper withdraws from
Merauke project

In a sudden and unexpected reversal of policy, Scott Paper announced on 13 October that it
had withdrawn from the US $654 million, 550,000 ha eucalyptus plantation/pulp mill project in
Merauke, West Papua. The people of the Digul Valley and their forests have been given a repr-
ieve., But for how long? Jakarta is determined that the project should go ahead and another
partner be found. Recognising this, environmentalists and human rights organisations
worldwide are preparing to do battle with the next contender.

Scott’s stated reason for pulling out was that "exten-
sive studies" had shown the company no longer
needed eucalyptus pulp from the Merauke project to
fulfil its anticipated pulp needs, but would turn to
"more cost-effective recycled and high-yield fibres".
Although Barry Kotek, managing director of the now
defunct joint venture Astra-Scott Cellulosa, was not
prepared to admit that the decision had been in-
fluenced by the international campaign, according to
a more recent report, Kotek admitted that NGO pres-
sure had been responsible [ Tempo 4 November, 1989]

Most are convinced that Scott did pull out because
of campaigning by human rights and environmental
organisations; Scott received at least 6,000 protest
letters from around the globe and in August, the
California-based Rainforest Action Network took out a
full-page advertisement in the New York Times
ranking Philip Lippincott, President of Scott Paper,
with George Bush and President of the World Bank,
Barber Conable, as men who would decide the fate of
the world’s rainforests and by extension, the world’s
children. Even the Indonesian Forestry Department’s
Armana Darsidi, director general of land rehabilitation
and reforestation, attributed withdrawal to fears of
a consumer boycott. (Jakarta Post 23 October]
Indonesian NGOs who oppose the project welcomed
Scott’s decision, but are aware they may have to deal
with companies less responsive than Scott - the first
multinational investor to pay the NGOs any attention.
One source in Merauke told the Far Eastern Economic
Review, 2 November, that Scott had gone ahead with
the social survey despite objections from its joint-
venture partner, Astra. Scott is no paragon of virtue,
however; North America the company has been fined
for violating health regulations and polluting the
environment. Scott was ranked second worst in a
pollution performance survey and accused of secrecy
by the Council on Economic Priorities.

The suddenness of Scott's withdrawal - informing

Indonesia of the decision on the same day as the news
was made public in the US, made the blow to the
Indonesian government all the more devastating. Fed
up with Western based multinationals too easily cowed
by international NGOs perhaps, Darsidi said the
project would be offered to Asian investors. He said
five foreign companies ~ two South Korean, two
Taiwanese and one Japanese (misgivings about NGO
pressure in Japan have since surfaced) - were
interested in developing pulp companies in Indonesia.

| Jakarta Post October 23,1989}

More recently, after meeting the President, Forestry
Minister Hasjrul Harahap said the government hoped
Astra’s new partner would be an Indonesian company,
adding that Scott had withdrawn because of ineffi-
cient management.

Astra plans for Kalimantan

PT Astra, one of Indonesia’s largest conglomerates,
is pushing ahead to expand into the paper and pulp
business. In addition to the Merauke project, it plans
to establish a similar project in East Kalimantan.
According to a report in Setigskawan [September/Oct~
ober 1989], the journal of SKEPHI, the NGO Network
for Forestry Conservation in Indonesia, the $505
million project comprising 200,000 ha eucalyptus and
albazia plantations, a 559,000 tons/year chip plant and
300,000 tons/year pulp mill, will be linked to the
transmigration programme. Local Dayak who practise
shifting cultivation, and sedentary farmers in the
concession area will be displaced; under the monocul-
tural timber estate model, the natural tropical rain-
forest will be lost.

Carving up West Papua’s forests

Logging is already underway in one of the world’s
largest remaining tracts of mangrove forests in
Bintuni Bay in the western part of West Papua,
financed by Japan’s paper giant Marubeni. Meanwhile,
Asmus MacLean, an Autralian company, is planning an
industrial complex based around a 600,000 ha conces-
sion in the Mamberamo River area in the north.
Neither company recognises local land ownership
rights and the Marubeni-financed project, PT Bintuni
Utama Murni, has failed to carry out an environmental
impact assessment for its chip mill due to start
operating shortly in Bintuni Bay. An impact assess-
ment for the Mamberamo Forest Products project, the
Maclean joint venture, is due to start at the same
time as logging, early next year.

SKEPHI is opposing the wholesale exploitation of
West Papua’s forests. In October, it launched a
campaign to have the area designated a "World
Heritage Site", based on ecologically sustainable
development, taking local environmental, cultural and
political factors into account. The government’s policy
of divorcing production from conservation by dividing
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East Timor at NAM

The question of East Timor was raised at the Non-
Aligned Movement summit in Belgrade in September
this year. Mozambique’s president, Joaquim Chissano,
defended East Timor’s inalienable right to self-deter-
mination and said the situation there is "a matter for
grave concern'. His country wishes to see frank and
serious talks between the interested parties to end
this situation. Angola’s president. José Eduardo dos
Santos, urged NAM to follow the question of East
Timor and said the UN Secretary-General should
continue his efforts. The president of Guinea Bissau,
Joao Bernardo Vieira, said he was in favour of the
Timorese people deciding their own future and
condemned the fact that it "continued to be wrapped
in a cloak of silence'. | Fast Timor News, Monthly Memo
October 1989, quoting Diario de Noticias 5 and 7
September, and Expresso, 9 September, 1989]

Two months later, the head of Indonesia’s parlia-
ment, retired General Kharis Suhud, told the press,
after reporting to President Suharto about the Inter-
Parliamentary Union meeting in London in September,
that Portugal seems no longer to have the support of
African countries like Mozambique and Angola, "They
have begun to understand that what we are doing in
East Timor is not like what Portugal alleges." [ Kompas,
17 November 1989] Apparently, Suharto forgot to brief
him about what happened in Belgrade.

Hunger striker draws response from Labour Party
In reply to a letter from Paul Barbara, who went on
hunger strike in support of East Timor at the begin-
ning of October, the Labour Party’s Neil Kinnock,
Leader of the Labour Party, wrote assuring him that
the Party supports "the right of self-determination
for the people of East Timor'" and calls "for the im-
plementation of the United Nations General Assembly
Resolution 1514 of 1960".

EASTTIMOR

Paul Barbara, a London cabman, campaigns hard for
East Timor. In 1986, he made an attempt to cross The
Channel to France, on a raft made by himself in the
shape of a cross.

Neil Kinnock’s letter came as Paul Barbara entered
the fortieth day of his hunger strike. 1t was such a
categorical statement of support for East Timor that
he decided to call off the strike. He went on strike
to get positive statements not only from Neil Kinnock
but also from the Prime Minister, Margaret Thatcher,
and from Pope John Paul. Neither of them replied.

After spelling out the stipulations of UN Resolution
1514, Neil Kinnock’s letter continued:

Ann Clwyd, Labour Member of Parliament for Cynon
Valley, was one of seven British Parliamentarians who
visited East Timor in March this year. In a statement
to the UN Decolonisation Committee in New York on 14
August 1989, Ann Clwyd urged the Committee to
consider the conditions under which a plebiscite
might be held:

a. The cessation of hostilities between Indonesia and
the forces of resistance, three months in advance of
the plebiscite.

b. Strict international supervision by a team ap-
pointed by the UN and including representatives of
the Portuguese Government.

c. Withdrawal of all Indonesian troops.

d. Indonesian civilians in the territory should not
be permitted to take part in the plebiscite.

e. Universal suffrage.

We deplore the abuse of human rights in East Timor
and will continue to call for an end of such abuse and
the release of all political prisoners.

Mass murdere. dies

Sarwo Edhie, who led his troops in the slaughter of
communists in 1965, died in November after a long
illness. During the massacres that swept the country
in October 1965, Sarwo Edhie, then commander of the
para-commando regiment, RPKAD, was sent to Central
Java on the orders of Suharto, commander of the
army’s strategic command, KOSTRAD, to initiate the
indiscriminate killing of communists, in a massacre in
which an estimated one million people were killed.

As US journalist, John Hughes shows, after staging
a massive show of strength in Semarang on 19 Oc¢-
tober 1965, which triggered attacks on PKI property
and the homes of leftwing activists, Sarwo Edhie’s
troops moved south to take control of the major
cities. It soon became clear that there were not
enough RPKAD troops to mount operations in so many
places at once so Sarwo Edhie began training and
arming vigilante bands of youths to scour the villages
for those suspected of communist sympathies. Hughes
quotes Sarwo Edhie as telling him:

In Solo, we gathered together the youth, the nation-
alist groups, the religious organisations. We gave
them two or three days’ training, then sent them out
to kill communists. [John Hughes, The End of Sukarno,
Angus and Robertson, London 1967, page 151.

As the Indonesian press eulogises ’'one of the
country’s greatest soldiers’, whom Editor (18 Novem-
ber 1989] hails on its cover as 'the man who crushed
the PKI’, it is as well to remember that Indonesia is
one of the few countries where confessed mass mur—
derers go unpunished and are allowed to die heroes.
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who require a combination of physical prowess and
meditation. Cynics in Jakarta call this special palace
guard ’tukang kepruk Cendana’, or the ’'Cendana
bone~crushers’. As head of state, Suharto has his
official palace guard, so it is not entirely clear why
he needs an unofficial guard as well. Insiders see
Kateda as a kind of praetorian guard, a highly
trusted shield to protect the president, should a
powerful group within the army try to oust him. Here
is Suharto's weapon with which to ’clobber’ his
oppronents. The assassination of the South Korean
dictator, Park Chung Hee, was a salutary reminder of
how things could go wrong.

Another of Kateda's tasks is the protection of the
extensive family business interests.

Prabowo’s second tour in East Timor
Prabowo's assignment to East Timor early this year
was at first puzzling for many Jakarta watchers. Why
should Prabowo, the potential heir, risk his life in
war-stricken East Timor? Soon enough it became clear
that Prabowo had specific military and political
assignments, taking him a step further in his military
career. By now a lieutenant-colonel, Prabowo’s milita-
ry tasks were well defined, to mop up ’terrorists’ in
the war zone, in particular the eastern part of East
Timor. Having now returned to Jakarta, it is obvious
that the primary aim of his tour of duty was to
secure the region in preparation for the Pope's visit.
He undertook this tour of duty as commander of
Battalion 328, a detachment of the West Java Siliwangi
division. Battalion 328 includes Kujang, a special
paratroop unit. But Prabowo also took along his own
men from the kateda detachment. Prabowo’s presence
in East Timor was throughout high profile. Besides

PROFILE

the many raids, mass arrests and summary executions
carried out by Prabowo’s troops in Baucau, Viqueque,
Los Palos, Manatuto, Same, Ainaro and Dili, he also
made several public speeches, in Baucau, Viqueque
and Los Palos. The arrests, said Prabowo, were neces~
sary to make East Timor safe for the Pope. But he
also attacked the Catholic Church, bluntly condemning
the priests, nuns and catechists as the chief op-
ponents of integrasi and warning them that the
military would not tolerate this.

At the same time, he created his own infrastructure
of former members of Apodeti, the pro-Indonesia
party before 1975. In the first years of the occupa-
tion, Apodeti men occupied positions throughout the
administration but when Mario Carrascalao was ap-
pointed governor, most Apodeti people were dismissed.
it was Prabowo who gave the Apodeti people another
lease of life by organising them to perform specific
intelligence tasks.

As part of the security assignment his task was to
destroy 'the remnants’ of the resistance. To the
people in Venilale, the presence of Prabowo’s troops
plunged their region back into an atmosphere
reminiscent of the war in all its former ferocity.

His political tasks are more difficult to define. In
preparation for the ’opening up’ of East Timor in
January this year, certain political conditions had to
be created. Firstly, with the church becoming
obstructive, Prabowo had to keep the church in tow.
However, as if in open defiance to Prabowo, Bishop
Belo took everyone by surprise by calling on the UN
to conduct a referendum. It was Prabowo who or-
ganised a protest in front of Bishop Belo's house in
May this year.

His second target was the governor, Mario Carras-
calao. Although the governor is still seen as a useful
instrument for Jakarta, his attempts to break up the
economic monopoly of the army had to be prevented.
Also, though no-one doubts Carrascalao’s pro-In-
donesian credentials, he is known to protect his
countrymen and women, whenever possible, from
random arrest and torture. For a combination of
reasons, Carrascalao’s position has declined consider-
ably in 1989. A few months ago, a vice-governor was
appointed. Colonel A.B. Saridjo is an old hand in East
Timor, for long the regional secretary and before
that, in command of military intelligence. With this
background, he is not a man to take a back seat.

The importance of military intelligence

Prabowo’s Apodeti network is now showing its teeth
and counter-insurgency forces have infiltrated the
relatively open structure of popular resistance in the
cities. A major feature in present-day Indonesia is the
pervasive social control down to village level. As a
trained intelligence operator, Prabowo has tried to
apply this by forcing East Timorese to spy on each
other, Many of those recently arrested in sweeps
against the guerilla movement have not been executed
but pressed into service against their former com-
rades. If they refuse, their next of kin are the ones
to suffer. It has been Prabowo's special contribution
to create an atmosphere of blackmail and terror, an
atmosphere of mutual distrust in present-day East
Timor.

Significant failures

The impact of Prabowo’s combined commando~-intel-
ligence campaign, typical for the red berets, has been
widely felt in East Timor. Many have testified to the
worsening repression in the past year and journalists
who have taken advantage of the greater access all
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speak of the fear everywhere. Still, it could be
argued that Prabowo's 1989 campaign in East Timor
has not been an unmitigated success. The demonstra-
tion against Bishop Belo in May turned into an ex-
pression of overwhelming public support for the
bishop. Far from wilting under the Prabowo lash, the
church has gained in stature and Bishop Belo for the
first time decided not to attend the October 1989
meeting of the Indonesian Bishop's Conference. The
integration of the East Timorese Church with the
Indonesian church is farther away than ever.

But the greatest calamity of all was the demonst-
ration, complete with banners, during the Pope’s visit.
All the careful planning, the body searches and the

WEST PAPUA

stringent measures to stop Fretilin supporters .from
attenaing failed to prevent this express%on of defiance
against Indonesian rule and the call for independence,
attracting the attention of the world’s press.

Prabowo is now back in Jakarta and slated to take
over an important command post in Kostrad, the
army’s strategic command, probably as commander of
one‘of its two rapid deployment battalions. People
even tip him to become army chief-of-staff in a t:ew
vears’ time. Father-in-law Suharto clearly places high
i\opes on Prabowo whose recent tour of duty in East
Timor has given him a wealth of experience and‘a
series of military achievements that the generals will
find hard to ignore.

The Jayapura subversion trials

Details about the subversion trials held during the past few months in Jayapura are still hard
to come by. Although the West Papuan nationalist, Dr. Thomas Wainggai, is known to have been
sentenced to twenty years and his wife Teruko to eight years, the verdicts of twenty others
who have been tried are not clear. A leaked police document itemising the reasons for holding
the people arrested on 14 December reflects the flimsy basis for the subversion trials under

way in West Papua.

The document produced by police chief investigator,
Major Soeyitno, dated 2 January 1989, lists 37 detain~
ees, ranked according to the alleged level of involve~
ment in the ceremony at the Mandala Sports Stadium,
Jayapura on 14 December. A West Melanesian State was
proclaimed and a flag was unfurled in the presence of
gsixty or seventy West Papuans. The following is a
slightly abridged version of the list:

Dr Thomas Wainggai is the ’'leading participant’ who:

* Harboured feelings of antipathy towards the In--

donesian government and aimed to set up a West
Melanesian State.

* Conceived the idea for a West Melanesian State and
prepared the documents for establishing the State.
¥ Gathered people to implement his plan and mobilised
and contacted people for the ceremony.

Rev, Ones Waromi, Rev. Melkianus Numberi, Rev.
Aminadap Oropa, Rev. Martinus Marani and Leonard
Wainggai were his 'chief assistants’ who:

* Together with Dr. Wainggai, held meetings to plan
and conspire to commit a crime, to implement his
concept for a West Melanesian State.

* Mobilised people on his instructions, and contacted
officials, the governor of Irian Jaya, the military
commander and the chief-of-police as part of their
criminal conspiracy.

Mrs Teruko Wainggai and two unnamed people were
'makers of the flags’ who:
* On Wainggai’s instructions, bought cloth at Abepura
market, Jayapura to make four West Melanesian flags.

Mrs Henny Arwam, Dominggus Watopa, Rev. Robby
Fonataba, Barens Waromi and Rev. Alex Wamea were
‘ceremony organisers' who:

* Were involved in meetings to plan the proclamation
ceremony and unfurl the West Melanesian flag and,
together, implemented these plans.

Yance Wanggai, Hanok Arwan, Rev. Luther Karubaba,
Hendrik Wairara, Yanheri Anderi, Nicholas Wanggai,

Gustaf Wanggai, Robby Woru, Anton Maniani, Yan
Fonataba, Marthen Rewang, Daud Kareny, Yacob
Koridama and Permenas Marani were 'persons who
unfurled the flag’:

* Some knew of the plans and were appointed to
unfurl the flag.

* Qthers knew nothing but were present and were
then appointed to carry the flag.

* Together, they unfurled the West Melanesian flag.

Four are ’staunch sympathisers’, who:

* Made contact with people and encouraged others to
come in on the plan.

* Helped the preparations and knew long in advance
of the plans,

(These four were all tried and sentenced in August.
They are Karel Kareny who got 6 years, Mrs Aliance
Kareny (3 years), Tony Aninam (5 years) and Sem
Mansay (6 years).]

Finally, the police document lists five 'weak sym-
pathisers’ who:
* Knew of the ceremony only when it was about to be
held.
* Were invited to attend and were only aware of what
was to take place then and there but could not
extricate themselves and leave.

| These five have been tried and were sentenced on
13 September. Welhelmus Wanggai who got 2 years,
Eliezer Arobaya (3 years), Anton Manyani (3 years},
Amos Jitmau (two-and-a-half-years) and Justus
Markus Manori (3 years).

political

prisoners
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TRANSMIGRATION

World Bank’s unflagging
support for transmigration

Despite rumours circulating to the contrary, the World
Bank has not withdrawn support from the transmigra-
tion programme. The California-based NGO, Rainforest
Action Network, recently described transmigration as
a "colonization effort ... so widely discredited that
even the World Bank has withdrawn its support'. But
sadly, this is not the case.

Such a mistaken impression is likely to have arisen
from a shift in the way the Bank supports trans-
migration. After a campaign launched by TAPOL,
Survival International and others [see The Ecologist
Vol 16 No 2/3, 1986) the Bank announced it would no
longer be funding the development of new trans-
migration sites but would be financing the rehabilita-
tion and improvement of existing sites under the
Transmigration Second Stage Development (TSSD)
programme. Anne Booth writing in Bulletin of In-
donesian Studies, is in no doubt about the Bank’s
continuing role: "...Although the World Bank and other
agencies will continue to finance transmigration
projects during Repelita V, it appears that much of
the funding will be devoted to further development of
existing sites, rather than to new projects..."(our
italics) {[’Repelita V and Indonesia’s medium term
economic strategy’ in Bulletin of Indonesian Economic
Studies Vol 25 No 2, August 1989].

The most recent edition of Environesia contains a
critique of the World Bank’s involvement in the
transmigration programme and details the Bank’s new
$154 million loan currently under review. The funds
will be used to improve 9 existing sites, (§ in Sum-
atra, 2 in Kalimantan and 1 in Sulawesi), with ac-
tivities focusing on the development of infrastructure,
tree crops, and services. In conjunction with the
transmigration loan, two more are being proposed for
tree crop development -~ a $100 million "Nucleus Estate
Phase II Project" and a $45 million "Smallholder Estate
Tree Crops Development" loan. These will also target
existing settlements although ‘"reports indicate
possible new land developments" {Environesis, the
publication of WALHI - the Indonesian Environmental
Forum, September 1989)/.

Keeping their hands clean?

By claiming to provide funds only for the rehabilita-
tion of existing sites, the Bank believes it can wash
its hands of responsibility for those aspects of the
programme - displacing indigenous landowners and
clearing their forests for new sites ~ which most
blatantly violate human rights and destroy the
environment. By appearing to distance itself financial~
ly, the Bank even implies disapproval of the develop-
ment of new sites. But to fund any part of the prog-
ramme is to support the whole. The World Bank’s
funds may indeed be channelled only to existing sites,
but this means government funds, otherwise tied up
in improving sites, are freed for the development of
new sites. And there is no doubt that the programme
is going ahead full steam: the target for the current
five year plan is 550,000 families or about 2,200,000
people. | The deepening debt and the fall in oil prices
largely account for the lower target as compared with
the 1984-89 target of 750,000 families which appears
to have been achievedd The emphasis is on spending

as little as possible out of government funds, but
keeping the numbers up: the government only plans
to assist 180,000 families who will be sent to old-style
food crop sites, while the rest will be transmigran
swakarsa, (self-financing) and will be directed
towards producing export-oriented cash crops. Trans-
migration Minister Lt. Gen. Soegiarto recently an-
nounced that 40,000 families would be sent to work on
tree farms | Pikiran Rakyat 11 November 1989], while
others are destined for plantations, fisheries, even
industrial estates and tourism.

West Papua
Even in West Papua, where sites have failed abysmally
- some families have been "re-transmigrated” to other
islands - the programme is to continue., Governor Bas
Suebu recently announced that people should not be
easily influenced by negative comments from certain
groups in foreign countries. "Transmigration is a
government programme, and must be carried out.”
And, "Irian Jaya will continue to be a transmigrant-
recipient province". [quoted in Jakarta Post October
2, 1989j

The human and environmental cost of transmigration
is incalculable. Indigenous landowners have been
pushed aside, their forests felled, their lives devas-
tated. The transmigrants themselves have not even
benefitted; a recent survey showed that 80% of sites
had failed to increase their standard of living |see
TAPOL Bulletin, No 93, June 1989]. With Bank funds
continuing to pour in, as more forests and forest-
dwellers fall victim to transmigration, the human and
environmental costs will mount.
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